March 27, 2018
Ronald M. Cameron
Chairman
Mountaire Corporation
1901 Napa Valley Dr.
Little Rock, AR 72212
Paul Downes
President and CEO
Mountaire Farms Inc.
PO Box 1320
Millsboro, DE 19966
Mike W. Tirrell
Executive Vice President of Processing Operations
Mountaire Farms Inc./Mountaire Farms of Delaware, Inc.
PO Box 1320
Millsboro, DE 19966
NOTICE OF INTENT TO SUE PURSUANT TO RESOURCE CONSERVATION
AND RECOVERY ACT, 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A)
Dear Mr. Cameron, Mr. Downes, and Mr. Tirrell:
Pursuant to the 1976 Amendments to the Solid Waste Disposal Act (hereinafter referred
to as the “Resource Conservation and Recovery Act” or “RCRA”), 42 U.S.C. § 6972(b)(2)(A),
Joan Balback, Joseph Balback, Faye Burton, Titus Burton, Carol Cordrey, Charles Cordrey,
Eleanor Cordrey, Gerald Cordrey Jr., Tillie Cordrey, Jeff Davis Sr., Jeff Davis Jr., Megan
Gallagher, Trevor Gallagher, Brittany Hayes, Colleen Hough, Michael Hough, Brannon Johnson,
Tom Johnson, Monica Johnson, Ernest Kollock, Ginger Kollock, Lisa McCabe, Eileen Mooney,
James Mooney, Damon O’Leary, Kim O’Leary, Tom O’Leary, Michael Orlen, Michelle Orlen,
Jean Phillips, Robert Phillips, Donna Reid, James Reid, Tiffany Reid, Nina Davis Rodriguez,
Frances Schuck, Bruce Sentman, Maryann Sentman, Patsy Taylor, Daniel Turpin, Patricia
Turpin, Charles Wayne, Dylan O’Leary Welsko, Junior Wise, Martha Wise, Preston Wise,
Wescenia Wise (collectively, “Community Plaintiffs”) and Food & Water Watch hereby notifies
you that on or after the 90th day from the date of your receipt of this notice, the Community
Plaintiffs and Food & Water Watch intend to initiate a citizen suit in Delaware Federal District
Court against Mountaire Farms Inc., Mountaire Farms of Delaware Inc, and Mountaire
Corporation for violations at their Millsboro poultry processing plant as described below
(“collectively Mountaire”).
Mountaire owns and operates a poultry processing plant located on Route #24,
approximately 2.0 miles east of Millsboro, Sussex County, at or near 29005 John J. Williams
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Highway, Millsboro, DE. The Millsboro processing plant slaughters and processes about 2
million chickens per week, operating 16 hours per day, five days a week, and produces 2.4
million gallons of waste per day. The waste created by the processing plant includes feathers,
dirt, fecal matter, blood, slaughtering wastewater, carcass parts, grit, sand, gravel, flesh, fat,
grease, chiller wastewater, processing wastewater, cleanup wastewater, and sanitary waste from
the employees at the plant. Under a State of Delaware Spray Irrigation Permit Number 35919104, Mountaire disposes of its wastewater on 928 acres of farmland permitted for spray irrigation.
This plant, wastewater treatment and storage, and spray irrigation activity are what is at issue in
this lawsuit as is described in the map below:
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The Community Plaintiffs live approximately 125 feet to ½ mile downgradient from the spray
fields and wastewater storage at issue. The lawsuit will allege that Mountaire has contributed
and is contributing to the past and present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, and/or
disposal of solid waste in such a manner that may present an imminent and substantial
endangerment to health and the environment in violation of Section 7002(a)(1)(B) of RCRA, 42
U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B). The lawsuit will also allege that Mountaire is operating an “open dump”
in violation of Section 4005(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6945(a).
By failing to comply with RCRA, Mountaire has injured or threatened to injure, and will
continue to injure or threaten to injure, the health, environmental, and economic interests of the
Community Plaintiffs and Food & Water Watch’s members. These injuries or risks are traceable
to Mountaire’s violations on their property, and redressing those ongoing violations will redress
the Community Plaintiffs’ and Food & Water Watch’s injuries or risks. The Community
Plaintiffs and Food & Water Watch will seek mandatory injunctive relief requiring Mountaire to
immediately cease its open dumping and abate and/or remediate the source(s) of the
endangerment to health and the environment and an order from the Court requiring Mountaire to
pay the attorneys and expert witness fees and costs incurred in bringing this enforcement action.
This letter serves to notify you that Community Plaintiffs and Food & Water Watch intend to file
suit in federal district court against Mountaire any time beginning ninety (90) days after the
certified receipt of this letter if Mountaire does not remedy the RCRA violations during this
period. The suit may also include common law claims for money damages and other relief.
VIOLATIONS OF THE RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT:
IMMINENT AND SUBSTANTIAL ENDANGERMENT
Under 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B), citizens are authorized to bring suit against any person
who is the “past or present generator, past or present transporter, or past or present owner or
operator of a treatment, storage, or disposal facility, who has contributed or who is contributing
to the past or present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or
hazardous waste which may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the
environment.” In this case, Mountaire is the generator, transporter, and owner and/or operator of
a treatment, storage, and disposal facility that is contributing to the past and present storage,
treatment, transportation and/or disposal of solid wastes, namely poultry processing wastewater
and sanitary waste sprayed onto disposal fields as part of their Spray Irrigation Permit Number
359191-04. Mountaire’s liquid wastes constitute “solid wastes” under RCRA because they are
“any...discarded material, including solid, liquid, semisolid… material resulting from industrial,
commercial… and agricultural operations...” 42 U.S.C. § 6903(27). Mountaire’s practices in
storing, treating, transporting, applying, and disposing of poultry processing wastewater and
sanitary waste may, and do, present an imminent and substantial endangerment to the health of
nearby residents and to the environment.
In particular, Mountaire and/or its agents have applied, currently do apply, and are
reasonably likely to continue to apply poultry processing wastewater and sanitary wastes to
thirteen nearby agricultural fields in amounts that exceed agronomic rates. Delaware
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Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control (“DNREC”) inspection reports
show that Mountaire routinely applied nutrients in excess of its annual application rate of 320
lbs/acre of nitrogen, a strong indication that Mountaire has applied its wastewater in excess of
agronomic rates. For example, in 2017, Mountaire exceeded its annual rate on all but two of its
fields. In fact, in 2017, six of the spray fields exceeded the total application rate for the entire
year in the month of August alone:

Upon information and belief, this over application beyond the 320 lbs/acre limit has occurred for
at least the past five years.
Additionally, DNREC inspection reports from 2015 to the present have indicated that
effluent waste sprayed onto the disposal fields was above the 15.6 mg/l Total Nitrogen limit
allowed in Mountaire’s spray irrigation permit. For example, in 2017, the following nitrogen
concentrations were:
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Applying wastewater with more nutrients than allowed by the permit is evidence that Mountaire
has applied its wastewater in excess of agronomic rates. Applications in excess of what the
current crop can effectively utilize causes nitrates to leach through soil and into groundwater.
DNREC inspection reports from 2010 to the present have documented elevated and rising nitrate
levels in monitoring wells surrounding spray irrigation fields, a strong indication that Mountaire
has applied its wastewater in excess of agronomic rates. Once these nitrates enter the local water
table, they migrate away from the poultry processing plant and into the wells of nearby residents.
The over-application of poultry processing wastewater and sanitary wastes has also resulted and
will continue to result in discharges into groundwater.
Furthermore, Mountaire’s storage of solid and/or liquid waste in anaerobic lagoons,
barrier ditches, and spray irrigation storage lagoons has caused and is continuing to cause the
discharge of untreated poultry processing wastewater and sanitary wastes directly into
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groundwater. According to DNREC reports, Mountaire’s anaerobic storage lagoons have a
maximum capacity of 35.83 million gallons. With a 30-ml plastic liner in the lagoons,
Mountaire has admitted that there is a leakage rate of 1x10-7 cm/s, meaning that millions of
gallons of sanitary waste and poultry processing byproduct have seeped from the lagoons into the
soil where no plants can use the nutrients, where the wastewater migrates into the groundwater
below. Once this wastewater enters the water table, it migrates away from the poultry processing
plant and into the wells of nearby resident. Upon information and belief, these discharges have
been ongoing since the date these lagoons were brought into operation and have been continuous
for at least the past five years. Mountaire has knowledge of the permeability rate for these
lagoons, therefore knowing that waste would seep from the storage containers into the ground,
where it would be discharged into groundwater. These ongoing discharges were confirmed by
Mountaire’s monitoring as well as United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and
DNREC sampling of downgradient wells continuously since 2000. The seeping of untreated
solid waste from the lagoons has contributed and is contributing to the excessive contamination
of the groundwater, posing an imminent and substantial endangerment to health and the
environment.
Upon information and belief, these practices and possibly others are responsible for
groundwater contamination at levels beyond the Maximum Contaminant Level (“MCL”) for
specific chemicals. The MCLs are health-based standards that specify contaminants known to
have an adverse effect on human health at levels beyond the parameters set forth by regulations.
Here, samples indicate elevated levels of nitrate in nearby residential wells downgradient from
Mountaire, as confirmed by private well sampling by the Department of Health and Social
Services from 2002-2003, undated Mountaire sampling, and well sampling by DNREC in 2017.
Attached hereto are maps showing the specific locations of the wells and other areas that were
sampled. Observed levels for nitrate in monitoring wells located downgradient of Mountaire
have been as high as 92.5 mg/l in 2016 and as high as 65.8 mg/L in 2017. A 2017 Notice of
Violation from DNREC stated that the monitoring wells “have shown no improvement since
Mountaire acquired” ownership of the facility in May of 2000. These results exceed the MCL for
nitrate, in one instance by more than 9 times higher than the 10 mg/l limit. See 40 C.F.R. Part
141 and Appendix I. The results were also significantly higher than the nitrate results obtained
from MW18 and MW34, the sampled monitoring wells located upgradient of Mountaire, which
had a five-year average of 5.75 mg/l and 6.42 mg/l nitrate respectively, with no sampling events
over the five-year period showing levels above 10 mg/l as is evidenced in the charts below:
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Upon information and belief, these samples were taken between 2003-2017. These practices
have been ongoing since Mountaire began its operations and have been continuous for at least
the past five years.
The Community Plaintiffs use and consume well water that is downgradient from
Mountaire. Upon information and belief, and based on the EPA and DNREC findings, and
Mountaire’s own sampling and monitoring results, these wells are contaminated predominantly
because of Mountaire’s discharges into the groundwater. Note that Mountaire has been sampling
a number of the Community Plaintiffs’ residential water, but has failed to provide the residents
with the dates of sampling, including not dating the letters sent to them, and that sampling events
occurred without notification to the residents. Human consumption of water containing more
than 10 mg/l of nitrate causes a variety of severe health problems, including but not limited to
methemoglobinemia (“blue baby syndrome,” a potentially fatal condition that affects infants),
some forms of cancer, and autoimmune system dysfunction. The excessive nitrates and other
contaminants contained in these nearby wells are directly attributable to Mountaire’s improper
practices of storing, treating, transporting, and disposing (through application or otherwise) of
solid wastes. There is evidence that chronic exposures to lower levels can contribute to a variety
of severe health problems. As such, these practices may, and indeed do, present an imminent and
substantial endangerment to health and the environment. Below are some of the sampling results
that show an endangerment to public health:
Household Residents
Joan Balback
Joseph Balback
Carol Cordrey
Charles Cordrey
Eleanor Cordrey
Gerald Cordrey Jr.
Tillie Cordrey
Jeff Davis, Sr.
Jeff Davis, Jr.
Megan Gallagher
Trevor Gallagher
Brittany Hayes
Colleen Hough
Michael Hough
Brannon Johnson
Monica Johnson
Tom Johnson
Lisa McCabe
Eileen Mooney
James Mooney
Damon O’Leary
Kim O’Leary
Tom O’Leary

Domestic Water
Date
Nitrate Result in mg/l
12.8
12/10/2017
15.25
20.2

Mountaire undated
12/6/2017

10.3

11/17/2017

10.8

12/6/2017

8.4

12/6/2017

25.6
19.4

12/6/2017

31.4
26.92

undated
Mountaire undated

24.8
7.65

12/1/2017

14.0

1/30/2018
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Dylan O’Leary Welsko
Michael Orlen
Michelle Orlen
Jean Phillips
Robert Phillips
Donna Reid
James Reid
Tiffany Reid
Nina Davis Rodriguez
Bruce Sentman
Maryann Sentman
Patsy Taylor
Charles Wayne
Junior Wise
Martha Wise
Preston Wise
Wescenia Wise

8.8

undated

26.5

12/6/2017

18.2

1/19/2018

10.8
22.8

undated
11/14/2017

12.7
30
22

4/29/2002
Mountaire undated (2002)
Mountaire undated (2002)

25.6

Mountaire undated (2002)

42 U.S.C. § 6972(a) states that the District Courts of the United States shall have
jurisdiction to order any person who “has contributed or who is contributing to the past or
present handling, storage, treatment, transportation, or disposal of any solid or hazardous waste”
that presents an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment to take
such action as may be necessary to abate the endangerment. The Community Plaintiffs and Food
& Water Watch intend to seek declaratory and injunctive relief in this lawsuit, and attorneys and
expert witness fees and costs associated with the suit.
VIOLATION OF RESOURCE CONSERVATION AND RECOVERY ACT:
OPEN DUMPING
In addition to presenting an imminent and substantial endangerment to health and the
environment, Mountaire’s improper waste management practices constitute “open dumping” in
violation of RCRA. 42 U.S.C. § 6945(a) prohibits the operation of “any solid waste
management practice or disposal of solid waste which constitutes the open dumping of solid
waste.” “Disposal” means “the discharge, deposit, injection, dumping, spilling, leaking, or
placing of any solid waste . . . into or on any land or water[.]” 42 U.S.C. § 6903(3). Enforcement
of this prohibition is available through RCRA’s citizen suit provision. Id. at § 6945(a). As
required by statute, EPA has promulgated criteria under RCRA § 6907(a)(3) defining solid waste
management practices that constitute open dumping. See 42 U.S.C. § 6944(a); 40 C.F.R. Parts
257 and 258. These regulations prohibit the contamination of any underground drinking water
source beyond the solid waste boundary of a disposal site. 40 C.F.R. § 257.3-4(a).
The definition of “underground drinking water source” includes an aquifer supplying
drinking water for human consumption. 40 C.F.R. § 257.3-4(c)(4). “Contaminate” means to
introduce a substance that would cause: (i) the concentration of that substance in the groundwater
to exceed the maximum contaminant level specified in Appendix I, or (ii) an increase in the
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concentration of that substance in the groundwater where the existing concentration of that
substance exceeds the MCLs specified in Appendix I. 40 C.F.R. § 257.3-4(c)(2).
Appendix I to 40 C.F.R. Part 257 lists the MCL for nitrate as 10 mg/l. Groundwater
samples taken by the EPA and DNREC of wells downgradient from Mountaire revealed levels of
nitrate in excess of the 10 mg/l MCL. 1 The lawsuit will allege that Mountaire’s past and present
waste disposal practices have caused nitrate contamination to travel beyond the facility
boundaries, in violation of RCRA’s open dumping prohibitions. DNREC inspection reports
from 2010 to the present have documented elevated and rising nitrate levels in monitoring wells
surrounding spray irrigation fields, a strong indication that Mountaire has applied its wastewater
in excess of agronomic rates. Additionally, DNREC inspection reports from 2015 to the present
have indicated that effluent waste sprayed onto the disposal fields was above the 15.6 mg/L of
Total Nitrogen limits allowed in Mountaire’s spray irrigation permit. Applying wastewater with
more nutrients than allowed by the permit is a strong indication that Mountaire has applied its
wastewater in excess of agronomic rates. Applications beyond that which the current crop can
effectively utilize causes nitrates to leach through soil and into groundwater, which in turn
causes nitrate levels in the groundwater to exceed the MCLs.
The lawsuit will further allege that Mountaire’s storage of solid waste in permeable
lagoons has caused manure to seep into the groundwater and leave the boundaries of the site,
also causing nitrate contamination of groundwater in excess of the MCL. These practices have
been ongoing since Mountaire began its operations and have been continuous for at least the past
five years, as confirmed by an established monitoring program since at least 2003, private well
sampling by the Department of Health and Social Services from 2002-2003, and well sampling
by DNREC in 2017.
Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a), the Community Plaintiffs and Food & Water Watch
intend to seek legal and equitable relief to remedy Mountaire’s practice of open dumping. The
relief sought includes, but is not limited to, an assessment of past, present, and future response,
remediation, removal, and/or clean-up costs, a requirement that the extent of the contamination
be fully investigated and remediated, other necessary temporary and/or permanent injunctive
relief, and an award of the attorney and expert witness fees and costs incurred in bringing the
enforcement action.

1

In particular, EPA reported nitrate levels of 23, 46.7, 44, 43.4, 30.2, 23.4, and 22.7 mg/l in seven of the eight
downgradient wells, all above the MCL.
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The names, addresses, and phone numbers of Counsel for the parties giving this Notice of
Intent to Sue are:
Chris Nidel
Nidel & Nace, PLLC
5335 Wisconsin Ave., NW, Suite 440
Washington, DC 20015
(202) 478-9677
chris@nidellaw.com

Tarah Heinzen
Food & Water Watch
1616 P Street, NW,
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 683-2457
theinzen@fwwatch.org

Thomas C. Crumplar, Esq. (#942)
Jacobs & Crumplar PA
750 Shipyard Dr., Suite 200
Wilmington, DE 19801
(302) 656-5445
Tom@jcdelaw.com

Attorneys for Food & Water Watch.

Jessica Culpepper
Public Justice
1620 L Street NW, Ste 620
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 797-8600
jculpper@publicjustice.net
Attorneys for Plaintiffs.

CONCLUSION
We will be available to discuss effective remedies and actions that will assure
Mountaire’s future compliance with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and all other
applicable state and federal environmental laws. If you wish to avail yourself of this
opportunity, or if you have any questions regarding this letter, please contact the undersigned.
Sincerely,

Jessica Culpepper
Public Justice, PC
Chris Nidel
Nidel & Nace, PLLC
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Via Certified Mail to the following:
Scott Pruitt, Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Ariel Rios Bldg.
1200 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Washington, D.C. 20460

Cosmo Servidio, Regional Administrator
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Region III
1650 Arch Street
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2029

Registered Agent for Mountaire
Corporation
Janice A. Atterberry
1901 Napa Valley Dr.
Little Rock, AR 72212

Shawn M. Garvin, Secretary
Delaware Department of Natural Resources
and Environmental Control
89 Kings Highway
Dover, DE 19901

Registered Agent for Mountaire Farms Inc.
and Mountaire Farms of Delaware, Inc.
The Corporation Trust Center
1209 Orange Street
Wilmington, DE 19801
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